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“You show them you have in you something that is really profitable, and then there will be no limits to the recognition of your ability…. Of course you must take care of the motives—right motives—always.”

—JOSEPH CONRAD, Heart of Darkness







Prologue

An Ill Omen




Felix Elizalde’s mother died when he was six years old, which left him little choice but to follow his migrant-worker father each day into the fields and orchards of the American West. After several years on the trail his father found a job as a construction worker in Stockton, California. Settling down meant that Felix was finally able to attend school regularly. Although he was bright, at first no one noticed. He was treated, in the vernacular of that time and place, like any other “dumb Mexican.” But because in fact he was smart and persistent he was able to overcome this stereotype. After finishing high school he worked his way through San Jose State University on the graveyard shift at a mental institution, earned a master’s degree in broadcasting from San Francisco State University, and achieved professional success as a journalist, government official, and academic administrator.

In July of 1992 Elizalde was sixty-one years old. He was neither rich nor famous, but he was nonetheless living a version of the American Dream. That month he and his wife, Margaret, set out to see several Shakespeare plays at the world-class theater in Ashland, Oregon. To break the six-hour drive from their home in Castro Valley, near San Francisco, they stopped overnight in Redding, a small city in northern California. After checking into a motel they went out to eat at a Mexican restaurant. Later that evening, Elizalde experienced nausea and stomach pain. It seemed like indigestion to him and he wasn’t especially worried, but Margaret was concerned and talked him into going to Redding Medical Center, one of two relatively large and modern hospitals in town.

He was met in the emergency room by a stocky, tightly wound, chain-smoking South Korean cardiologist named Chae Hyun Moon, who was several inches shorter than the five-foot five-inch Elizalde. Moon asked him curtly about his symptoms and within minutes, with no cardiac workup, hustled him off to the catheterization laboratory for an angiogram, an invasive test that, in the absence of acute symptoms, is normally preceded by an electrocardiogram and a stress test. Less than half an hour later Moon told Elizalde that he had bad blockages in his coronary arteries, one of which was known in the trade as a “widow-maker,” and that he needed immediate triple bypass surgery. Elizalde, surprised and upset, but still able to make a rational judgment, said he would prefer to return to the Bay Area and get a second opinion. But Moon, who was imperious and did not much care for niceties such as respecting patients’ wishes and informed consent, told him bluntly that he would not survive the trip.

A few moments later Moon introduced Elizalde to Fidel Realyvasquez, the chief of cardiac surgery at RMC. Like Elizalde, Realyvasquez was a Mexican-American from a working-class background. He said he would perform the surgery. A nursing supervisor standing nearby tried to soften the blow by assuring Elizalde that the cardiac care at RMC was the best in northern California, an opinion widely held in and around Redding. In fact, National Medical Enterprises, Redding Medical Center’s owner, was on the verge of becoming the second-biggest for-profit hospital chain in the United States and RMC was on track to be its most successful hospital.

The nursing supervisor said Elizalde shouldn’t worry about a thing and that the hospital would arrange for a comfortable place for Margaret to stay. But Elizalde, who recently had undergone a treadmill stress test that was negative, was more than a little skeptical. Things were moving too fast for his taste. And he was put off by Realyvasquez, whom he found condescending, especially when he spoke to him in Spanish. Although it was the weekend, he succeeded in reaching his cardiologist, David Anderson, and asked his advice. After speaking to both Elizalde and Moon, Anderson had the feeling that what he was hearing didn’t sound quite right. Nevertheless, he told Elizalde that he could not second-guess Moon over the phone. He said Elizalde would have to decide for himself whether to have the surgery.

Despite Anderson’s hesitancy, Elizalde took away a different message. He thought Anderson’s tone suggested that he probably should have the operation. But after talking it over with Margaret, Elizalde decided against it. Although bypass surgery was done almost half a million times a year in the United States and was considered routine, the operation carried with it the prospect of a long and painful recovery, the possibility of depression, a small chance of a stroke, and perhaps some lingering mental deficit. If at all possible, Elizalde wanted to avoid these potential consequences.

The next morning Elizalde was flown on a gurney to Summit Hospital in Oakland. Anderson met him there, reviewed his records from Redding, and did some additional tests. He was shocked to find that in his judgment Moon’s diagnosis and treatment recommendation were baseless. Anderson called Moon and angrily told him that what he had done to Elizalde was thoroughly unethical. Moon replied, “You had to be there” to make the diagnosis, a comment Anderson found incomprehensible because he saw absolutely nothing on Elizalde’s angiogram that indicated a need for heart surgery. A week or two after coming home to Castro Valley Elizalde’s symptoms returned and he threw up blood. Soon thereafter he was diagnosed with an inflamed gall bladder, which almost certainly was the cause of his nausea and stomach pain in Redding.

Both Anderson and Elizalde wrote to the California Medical Board about the incident. The board sent Elizalde a form letter saying the matter was under review. Four and a half months later the board notified him by mail that it had closed the case without taking any action because the staff could find no violation of the law. In the 1992–93 fiscal year the board reported to the state legislature that it had received 6,749 complaints and took 149 disciplinary actions. To anyone familiar with the inadequacy of oversight of medical practice around the country these statistics would come as no surprise. California’s medical board, like most others, was underfunded and understaffed. Elizalde’s experience and the board’s failure to act went virtually unnoticed in Redding, but Anderson recalls worrying that the case might be “a harbinger.” He was concerned that RMC’s relatively new but fast-growing heart program was operating without sufficient oversight.

At the time of Felix Elizalde’s long night in Redding, Moon, Realyvasquez, and RMC already had well-established reputations throughout northern California. Moon was considered to be a magician with a catheter and was widely known for doing an unusually high number of angiograms for the time, which was a source of pride for the hospital and the community. The same was true for the number of cardiac operations being done at RMC—mostly by Realyvasquez—which was higher than expected given the small population the hospital served. This statistic also conveyed bragging rights in Shasta and the even more rural counties surrounding it. A few physicians in town considered Moon’s and Realyvasquez’s practice patterns overly aggressive. But no one was suggesting that either was guilty of malpractice. Indeed the more common view was that they were practicing medicine on the cutting edge.

Besides, RMC was just about the only game in town when it came to treating heart disease. Mercy, the other big hospital in Redding was just starting an open-heart program, but no one expected it to seriously challenge the primacy of the California Heart Institute, as RMC’s cardiac program was formally known. At the time it was an article of faith among the residents of the 40,000-square-mile area surrounding Redding that RMC’s heart program was not only the best in northern California, but that it was fast becoming one of the best in the country. And Moon and Realyvasquez were considered by almost everyone to be exceptionally talented physicians. The citizens of Redding and the scattered populace of the rural counties had all seen the big billboards that said so. They’d seen the newspaper ads, watched the television commercials, and heard the radio spots, all driving home the same message—RMC’s California Heart Institute was one of the nation’s leading programs.

By 2002, a great many people in Redding and the surrounding counties had heard that HealthGrades, a nationwide online rating service, consistently ranked RMC’s heart program among the best in the United States. RMC’s mortality rate for bypass surgery was around 2 percent, about as good as it gets. And by 2002, the hospital was approaching a thousand bypasses a year. Volume is generally considered one of the most reliable indicators of quality for surgery. But what probably carried the most weight in Redding and the surrounding towns was that almost everyone knew someone—a friend, a relative, a colleague—whose life had been saved by Moon, RV (as Realyvasquez was widely known) or, most frequently, by both doctors. Unsurprisingly, in a small, traditional community like Redding, word of mouth from grateful patients and families was more resonant than slick, high-powered advertising. The thousands of Redding area residents who had undergone heart surgery at RMC had heard the good news over and over again, from nurses and technicians, and, if they were his patients, as most were, from Dr. Moon himself. They knew they were incredibly fortunate because they were being treated by two of the best doctors at one of the best hospitals anywhere. And they were the living proof. When Moon came to see patients after surgery, just in case they didn’t already know how lucky they were, he would tell them. And who were they to doubt it?









1

A Historical Precedent




Felix Elizalde’s experience in Redding, as unpleasant as it evidently was for him and for his wife, Margaret, did not necessarily have wider implications. It could easily have been a simple case of medical error or just a difference in clinical judgment between two cardiologists. Medical errors occur with much greater frequency than most people are aware or would like to think, even at the best academic medical centers, and variations in clinical judgment are only natural. Cardiology in particular has many gray areas, and good clinicians frequently differ about the most appropriate treatment. The California State Medical Board, like most of its counterparts around the country, requires a pattern of questionable practice to investigate a physician, not just a single complaint, which makes sense. Doctors should not be held to a standard of perfection nor should they be expected to make identical cookbook diagnoses. Malpractice, of course, was not out of the question in Elizalde’s case, but neither was it a certainty. And the possibility of fraud had not entered anyone’s mind. In retrospect Elizalde had no definitive reason to be suspicious of Redding Medical Center, its owner, National Medical Enterprises, Dr. Realyvasquez, or, to be completely fair, even Dr. Moon.

Yet at the same time there was something potentially relevant to the situation that Elizalde knew nothing about—a lengthy episode involving National Medical Enterprises that was deeply troubling. In the late 1980s and early 1990s a number of NME-owned psychiatric hospitals had engaged in a cold-blooded scheme that was ongoing at the time of Elizalde’s Redding experience and destined to end in criminal convictions. Had Elizalde known about these activities he might have been even more skeptical about his own treatment.

About fifteen months before Moon diagnosed Felix Elizalde with triple-vessel coronary artery disease, late in the afternoon of April 12, 1991, a repainted police car pulled up to Sid and Marianne Harrell’s modest ranch house in Live Oak, Texas, a middle-class suburb of San Antonio. The light blue Dodge had a flashing red light on top and the words Sector One painted on the trunk. There was a prisoner cage in the back seat. Marianne and her fourteen-year-old grandson Jeramy watched two bulky, uniformed men get out. One of them told her curtly, “We’re Sector One, Mobile Crisis Unit, and we’re here to pick up the boy.” Marianne thought they meant Jeramy’s twelve-year-old brother, Jason, who was undergoing an evaluation at Colonial Hills, a psychiatric hospital in San Antonio owned by a company called Psychiatric Institutes of America. She said, “He isn’t here. What did he do?” But one of the men, who introduced himself as “Lieutenant” Joe Saenz, said, “That boy,” pointing at Jeramy. She asked again what he’d done, but they wouldn’t tell her.

Marianne, Jeramy, Saenz and the other man, whose name was Ulysses Jones, went inside where Sid Harrell, a retired army staff sergeant, was sitting at the kitchen table. Saenz and Jones told the Harrells they were operating under orders from a Dr. Bowlan at Colonial Hills and that if Jeramy didn’t go with them they would get a warrant under which he could be held for twenty-eight days. They also indicated that if this happened he would have a police record.

Marianne was both frightened and angry. She called Colonial Hills and was told that the officers were authorized to bring Jeramy to the hospital. When she asked the reason, she was told for substance abuse, truancy, and because he was a victim of child abuse. Sid then called the local police to try to establish whether Saenz and Jones had the authority to take Jeramy. By the time a police officer showed up Jeramy was handcuffed and in the cage in the back of the Sector One car. The officer reviewed the papers the men showed her, which did not include a warrant authorizing Jeramy’s detention. Nevertheless, she told the Harrells that Saenz and Jones were licensed security officers and could indeed get a warrant to hold Jeramy for twenty-eight days. If the Harrells let their grandson go with the security officers, she said, they could probably have him released within twenty-four hours. At this point the distraught grandparents gave up and let the two uniformed men take Jeramy away.1

Dr. Mark Bowlan’s “diagnosis” of drug abuse and the allegation that Jeramy was an abused child had been based solely on Bowlan’s interview with Jeramy’s twelve-year-old brother Jason. Bowlan, a psychiatrist who at the time had a temporary, limited medical license, which he would lose that summer for falsifying letters of recommendation, waited four days before seeing Jeramy, even though he had asserted that the boy was so dangerous that he had to be brought in by a pair of professional bounty hunters and admitted to Colonial Hills on an emergency basis. After six days, during which time his grandparents, who were his legal guardians, were not allowed to see him, Jeramy was released on a writ of habeas corpus obtained by state senator Frank Tejada. The senator went to the hospital himself and threatened to kick the door down if they didn’t let the fourteen-year-old go. A bill for $11,000 followed. Jeramy’s younger brother Jason was kept in the hospital for two weeks. His bill was $15,000. Both bills were paid by CHAMPUS (Civilian Health and Medical Program of the Uniformed Services), the U.S. government’s health insurance program for members of the military.

Jeramy Harrell’s experience of being forcibly taken from his home and being incarcerated in a mental hospital was not unique in the annals of the Psychiatric Institutes of America, a subsidiary of National Medical Enterprises. And, as bad as the Harrell case was, it was far from the most egregious in the company’s history. Nor would it be the last. Something seemed to be awry in the corporate DNA.

At least as far back as 1984, some Texas psychiatrists knew what was going on at the Psychiatric Institutes of America hospitals, and some were benefiting from it handsomely. Dr. Charles S. Arnold, a San Antonio psychiatrist, tape-recorded a conversation on June 12 of that year with the administrator of Colonial Hills, the hospital to which Harrell would be taken. Arnold said he recorded the conversation “because of what I had already learned about the hospital.” The administrator told him that if he went along with the program, the hospital would make him rich, as it had done for other psychiatrists who had cooperated. The administrator then cited a Houston physician as an example: “They called [name deleted] and said ‘Look, you want to be rich? You let us set up this program the way we want to set it up. All you do is be the admitting psychiatrist and we’ll make you rich.’ We made him rich.”2

The administrator who contacted Dr. Arnold was executing a key part of the company’s business plan—to identify and admit patients with good insurance coverage. Harvey Friedman, the psychiatric unit’s vice president for program services, said that Ron Bernstein, the chief operating officer, had issued a directive to “Fill the beds at any cost. Hire sleazeballs. These are his words. Anything it takes. That was his philosophy.”3 A year after NME’s approach to Arnold, Norm Zober, president and CEO of its Specialty Hospital Group, which included the psychiatric facilities, scribbled the following hand-written note at a planning meeting: “Kinds of doctors we are looking for? Guys that will admit.” At a similar meeting thirteen months later, Zober wrote that the “incentive” contracts that were being discussed were “Deals to sew up M.D.’s.”4

The doctors were the linchpins of this scheme. And because what they were being asked to do—accept bribes for referrals among other things—was illegal, NME cooked up ways to disguise these bribes. The company relied on the doctors to do what was expected of them and in return rewarded them with titles that required no work and paid handsomely. At the psychiatric hospitals, cooperating doctors were usually given contracts as chiefs of treatment units. Peter Alexis, who was regional vice president of Psychiatric Institutes of America for Texas, explained that the doctors were paid salaries ostensibly for providing services expected of someone holding the title they had been given. Alexis also said the size of a doctor’s salary was directly linked to the number of his referrals.5

Mark Bowlan, the psychiatrist who admitted Jeramy Harrell and eventually pled guilty to charges of making false claims, theft of public money, and forgery, said he received $250,000 from NME his first year under contract, $400,000 in his second year, and was offered $750,000 for a third year. He later told the Houston Chronicle that “Doctors became addicted to the money, whether in terms of lifestyle, financial obligations or recreation.”6 Dr. Arturo Torres of Laurelwood Hospital charged $125 for each patient visit. He averaged twenty-four patients in the hospital and billed for five visits a week per patient, from which he grossed $780,000 in one year. The visits, when they occurred at all, were cursory. Hi, how are you feeling today? Fine, that’s good. Bye.

Each hospital’s business was driven by extremely ambitious bottom-line requirements that effectively ruled out acceptable patient care. Marketing was everything. James Hutchison, an executive at Baywood Hospital, told an investigative committee of the Texas Senate and the Select Committee on Children, Youth and Families of the U.S. House of Representatives that “every employee, from groundskeeper to program director, from office secretary to nurse, was obliged to conduct weekly marketing calls.” Russell Durrett, controller of Psychiatric Institutes of America’s Twin Lakes Hospital in Denton, Texas, from November 1988 to July 1989 told the House Select Committee in 1992 that at the Twin Lakes program those with the rank of director and above were given a weekly quota of contacts—his was five—and received prizes for referrals. He testified that, “We had an insurance remaining report that we completed on a weekly basis [and] the patient was discharged on that particular day when their insurance benefits ran out.”

Jose Carranza, a physician at Laurelwood, said that 80 percent of the patients arrived at the hospital without a referring doctor7 in response to advertising and hotlines. According to Texas Attorney General Dan Morales, one hotline received $155,000 a month from NME for “operating expenses.”8 Other paid referral sources were school counselors, social workers, and probation officers. The psychiatrists and psychologists with the best referral records were rewarded by being assigned patients for whom they could bill insurers $100 to $150 a day. The doctors would then pay back the administrators by making sure the patients stayed in the hospital until the last penny of their insurance was exhausted.

In mid-1991 Morales initiated an investigation of various abuses in the psychiatric hospital industry. By that time enough concern had been raised about NME’s highly aggressive patient-recruitment strategies that the company hired the law firm of McDermott, Will & Emery to investigate its psychiatric hospitals. The firm delivered a 240-page report with three hundred appendices to NME, but it never saw the light of day. An NME executive told a Texas Senate committee that any wrongdoing was the work of one or two individuals who were no longer with the company and assured the House Select Committee that the investigation disclosed “no evidence of systemic practices that negatively affected the quality of patient care.” The next day, NME’s CEO, Richard Eamer, and its president, Leonard Cohen, sent the same message to shareholders. But four years later, after reading a summary of the McDermott report, Texas State District Judge Fred Edwards, in response to a motion by plaintiffs’ lawyers to make it public, would rule that its findings “substantially differ” from NME’s representations.

The precise consequences of NME’s relentless, single-minded pursuit of profits are hard to calculate. How do you measure the human costs of deceiving parents into allowing their children to be imprisoned in mental institutions where at best they were warehoused and at worst they were subjected to alleged therapies that resembled torture more than treatment? What were the psychic costs for the young children and adolescents? How would they affect their ability to develop into stable confident adults? What did these experiences do to their capacity to trust their parents or critical institutions like the medical system? How much guilt did it instill in their parents? The answers to these questions are unquantifiable, but perhaps the best way to understand the human costs of this scandal is to hear what happened to Jeannie Warren, just one of the many young persons shanghaied into a Psychiatric Institutes facility.

A thirty-eight-year-old Fort Worth psychiatrist named Robert Hadley Gross was enamored of a now-discredited form of treatment at the time called “rage reduction” therapy. In theory it was intended to help children and adolescents who were unable to form normal emotional attachments with others. It was to be done only in the presence of and with the informed consent of a parent. It was supposed to involve four people holding the patient down while the therapist prodded or tickled him or her to produce anger, which it was hoped would be cathartic. Warren was Gross’s patient at the Psychiatric Institute of Fort Worth. She told the Houston Chronicle that she was subjected to this “therapy” two dozen times for two to five hours at a time. She said she signed a consent form she wasn’t given a chance to read. No parent was present. In preparation for one of her treatments she was taken to a snack room and held down on some gym mats by eight people.9 Here’s how she described what followed to the Chronicle’s Mark Smith:

My whole body was covered with people touching me and holding me down. [Gross and another staff member] would make a fist and stick out their knuckles and bore and grind into my ribs. I was crying, hyperventilating…. They had their hands over my nose and mouth so I couldn’t breathe. They were attempting to muffle my screams. I stopped breathing twice. When I started breathing again they would slam me back down on the mat. When finished, I had burst blood vessels on my face and chest.


A nurse at the hospital confirmed that Warren had swelling and purplish-red welts on her side after one session.10 Years later Warren said, “I have dreams of my doctor standing over me screaming and coming after me. My nightmares won’t go away.” Willem Duard Bok, a psychiatrist at PI–Fort Worth testified to the House Select Committee that rage-reduction therapy was at best worthless and sometimes caused physical harm. Bok said rage-reduction therapy often caused severe pain and bruising: “in some of the female preadolescent and adolescent patients there was tissue injury in the form of severe bruising incurred in the nipple and breast areas.” In 1996 a Tarrant County judge ruled that Warren had been the victim of assault and intentional infliction of emotional distress and ordered Gross to pay her $8.4 million.

On July 20, 1996, Gross was convicted of criminal contempt and was facing a possible six months in prison and a $5,000 fine on this count. Released on his own recognizance, he fled to England. On August 13, Gross was indicted on four counts of mail fraud and two counts of filing false insurance claims for services that were not provided. The fugitive psychiatrist was accused among other things of accepting kickbacks of $861,000 for patient admissions between 1988 and 1991. These were partly embedded in the $329,000 he was paid by NME during one two-year period. The rest were included in his billing of insurers at $150 per patient per day for the twenty to twenty-five patients a day on average he was assigned by hospital management. Using the smaller number of patients and five days a week, that works out to $780,000 a year. By the time Gross went into hiding he was facing twenty years in prison and more than $1 million in fines. He was finally returned to the United States where, in a plea bargain, he was sentenced to a year and a day in prison to be served concurrently with his six-month sentence for criminal contempt of court.

In July 1993, with NME facing civil lawsuits by thirteen insurance companies and more than a hundred individual plaintiffs, two of the company’s founders, Richard Eamer and Leonard Cohen, the vice chairman and president, resigned. Jeffrey Barbakow, a board member with little hospital experience who was an investment banker and film executive, took over as chairman. On August 26, 1993, six hundred federal agents led by the FBI raided NME/PIA hospitals in seventeen states, regional headquarters of NME, and the company’s corporate headquarters in Santa Monica, California. The raid led to criminal and civil charges against the company and individual executives and physicians for battery; bribing doctors, school counselors, and others for patient referrals; coercing parents into committing their children; locking up patients until their insurance coverage was exhausted; providing unnecessary treatment, grossly inflating charges, and billing for treatment that was not provided. The allegations against the company, its hospitals, and the psychiatrists who worked in them were hard to believe at first. And many people wondered whether, if indeed such a thing could happen at all, it just involved greedy doctors acting on their own rather than an extensive conspiracy managed at the corporate level.

The answer came ten months after the FBI raid when Peter Alexis agreed to cooperate with the federal investigation. On June 29, 1994, National Medical Enterprises pled guilty to one criminal count of conspiracy and six criminal counts of paying kickbacks and bribes to induce doctors and other professionals to refer patients to their psychiatric hospitals. The company paid $379 million in fines, penalties, and civil damages. The $33 million criminal fine that was part of the agreement set a record at the time. Alexis, two hospital administrators, four psychiatrists apart from Gross, but including Bowlan, one psychiatrist’s office manager, and one counselor were convicted criminally. The longest sentence—eight years—went to Bert Wayne Bolan, who ran a counseling service that channeled patients to NME hospitals. Mark Bowlan was sentenced to five months in prison and three years of supervised release.

No one in NME’s top management was convicted of anything and neither were the dozens of others, including mid-level executives, hospital administrators, physicians, psychologists, therapists, and counselors, all of whom appeared to be deeply implicated. NME, however, was required to divest itself of all of its psychiatric hospitals and to enter into a corporate integrity agreement committing it to better patient care and compliance with federal healthcare regulations. The document was signed for NME by the associate general counsel, Christi Sulzbach. It was still in effect a decade later, by which time Sulzbach was general counsel and a senior vice president of Tenet Healthcare Corporation, the name NME took in 1995 in an attempt to shed its tainted reputation after the psychiatric hospitals debacle.

The federal fraud case was over, but for NME the problems were just beginning. By late 1994, a pack of ex-patients and personal-injury lawyers were on its tail led by Jim Moriarty, a motormouthed forty-eight-year-old former Marine door gunner in Vietnam. Moriarty’s small but successful law firm occupies a large redbrick house on a quiet, tree-lined, mostly residential street in Houston’s Museum District. Apart from the noncommercial appearance of the neighborhood, nothing about the setting seems out of the ordinary. But to cross the threshold is to know instantly that you’re not in a typical law office and you are not about to meet white-shoe lawyers like the ones at Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, the big Los Angeles firm that represents Tenet.

The office, just a bit weirdly, is a monument to hunting, flying, and taxidermy. The wood-paneled waiting room is furnished with a stuffed wild pig and a tiny desert deer, and a large zebra rug. There are books on hunting, fishing, and guns, and a great big coffee-table history of the Marine Corps. And a short trip down the hall to the restroom brings you face-to-face with a big-horn sheep. But the sheep’s just a tease. The really unsettling presence sits placidly to your left, right next to the toilet, clutching a very big beer can. He is a massive, hairy, pot-bellied, glassy-eyed baboon. One flight up, in Moriarty’s private quarters, the décor is even more eclectic and less likely than that in the waiting room. On the wide-


board pine floor a saddle, boots, a lariat, and other western gear are carefully arranged. Elsewhere there are Indian rugs and canoe paddles and what at first glance might be mistaken for two car seats for giant children. In fact, one of these is from a Harrier, a vertical-takeoff Marine aircraft, and the other is from an A-4 Skyhawk fighter jet. Moriarty flies Skyhawks and helicopters at air shows.

As for the man himself, Moriarty is not necessarily someone you would like to have on your tail. When he focuses on something—it could be anything from a big, consolidated lawsuit to racing his hopped-up go-cart at 120 miles an hour—it is with the tenacity of a junkyard dog. He is a short, compact Irishman with wavy gray hair and squinty, faded blue eyes. The day I met him he looked like an unusually well-groomed wrangler in jeans, a checked shirt, and crocodile cowboy boots. He looks you directly in the eye with the somewhat pugnacious gaze of someone who wants to intimidate, and he has a gift for summing things up: “Tenet’s big plan is remarkably simple,” he said, presciently substituting the present tense for the past and the company’s new name for its old one. “Bribe the docs.” He added, by way of characterizing the company’s message to parents in the psychiatric-hospital cases, “Bring us your troubled children and we’ll teach ’em not to suck eggs.” A loose translation from the Texas vernacular: If your kid has a behavior problem, give him to us and we’ll beat it out of him.

A couple of months after NME’s federal guilty plea in June 1994 a lawyer in Houston named Tommy Fibich asked Moriarty for his help. Fibich had three clients interested in suing, but he knew he needed more to take on a big company with deep pockets and he wasn’t sure how to sign them up. Moriarty had been following the case in the press as he did with mass-tort cases generally, but he hadn’t thought about pursuing this one. Fibich’s call changed his mind. His dormant instinct for the big case was reawakened. This, combined with a sense of outrage about the abuse he was convinced had been inflicted on vulnerable children, made this one a natural. Moreover, what he viewed as dereliction of duty by many parents in giving up their children to mental hospitals left a bitter taste in his mouth. He and his associate Kevin Leyendecker teamed up with Fibich and brought on board several other lawyers. These included Steve Hackerman, a tall, deceptively easygoing man who took charge of developing the evidence in the case, and Richard Frankel, who was looking for a change and had the medical malpractice expertise Moriarty’s team was lacking.

The media-savvy Moriarty, whose approach to cases can be as exotic as his dress or décor, came up with a seductive weeklong radio and newspaper advertising campaign that played off of NME’s misleading ads. They were directed at the parents who had been deceived into handing their children over to NME psychiatric hospitals. The newspaper ads featured a photograph of a Moriarty employee staring into the middle distance looking depressed. The headline said: “Therapy or Abuse?” The rest of the copy asked specific questions like “Were you put in four-point restraints?” or “Were you billed for therapy sessions you never attended?” In a relatively short time the ads brought in hundreds of clients.

The lawyers built their case around the obvious premises that psychiatrists, administrators, and others had lured their clients under false pretenses into various NME hospitals and kept them there for the sole purpose of capturing their insurance benefits,11 and that NME targeted minors. Four hundred and sixty-three of the plaintiffs were under the age of eighteen when the abuses occurred. The suit went well beyond the federal charges of kickbacks for referrals and billing fraud, alleging that patients were confined in psychiatric hospitals with no legitimate medical justification—that is to say, imprisoned—and that many of them were harmed mentally and physically.

On July 30, 1997, the eve of what would have been the actual start of a civil trial, a settlement was reached. Tenet and the doctor defendants agreed to pay $101 million to the plaintiffs represented by Moriarty and his team. Tenet had already settled the claims of more than a dozen insurance companies for $300 million. Together with the criminal fines, penalties, and civil damages paid to the federal government, and a subsequent $17 million settlement, the company had paid out more than three quarters of a billion dollars to settle the bulk of the claims arising from the NME psychiatric-hospital scandal.

Considering the widespread nature and the magnitude of the crimes and abuses committed by NME, very few people went to jail. At least part of the reason for this is the subjective nature of psychiatry. A considerable number of the victims had behavioral problems and there was little doubt that some—possibly many—of them might have benefited from appropriate therapy. Trying to get more criminal convictions against psychiatrists in these circumstances was a formidable—although not necessarily insurmountable—challenge for federal prosecutors. As a result they used their limited resources to go after NME for the money bilked from federal healthcare programs, letting executives like Eamer, Cohen, and Bernstein go scot-free.

Was this a wise strategy? With hindsight it looks like the fines in excess of three quarters of a billion dollars were seen by NME more as a cost of doing business than as a deterrent. By the time the criminal and civil cases had been completely resolved, the company had already moved on to greener pastures. As things turned out, though, not too far into the new millennium Tenet Healthcare, as the company would by then be known, would once again meet up with Moriarty et al. This time however there would be no high-level insider like Alexis to give away the game. Instead the company would find itself confronting an unusually determined and tough-minded FBI agent, some smart local lawyers, and a pair of unlikely outsiders who were not easily intimidated.
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The City




The widely held geographical misconception that San Francisco is in northern California is easily corrected by a glance at a map. The city by the bay is in fact only about two-thirds of the way between the Mexican border and the Oregon state line. The real North State, as the local residents call it, begins at the top of the Sacramento Valley, in Redding, the small city where in 1992 Felix Elizalde narrowly avoided unnecessary bypass surgery. The drive to Redding from the Bay Area begins on heavily trafficked Route 80 near the coast. At Vacaville, where Genentech, the big biotechnology company, has a facility, it cuts east along Route 505 to Interstate 5. For the first sixty miles on I-5 there is nothing to break the monotony but a few small cattle herds, clusters of silos, rice fields, and an occasional farm hamlet. But just past the rice fields and still more than 120 miles away, a 14,000-foot volcanic monolith materializes on the horizon. This is Mount Shasta, the sacred mountain of the Modoc Indians. The gold miner and natural-born poet Joaquin Miller, who lived for a time among them, described the mountain a bit fulsomely, but not entirely without justification. “As lone as God, and white as a winter moon,” he wrote, “Mount Shasta starts up sudden and solitary from the heart of the great black forests of Northern California…. A shining pyramid in mail of everlasting frosts and ice.”12 No less of a natural wonder, but hidden from the highway, is the fast-flowing Sacramento River, which carved the valley over millennia and was said once to have been so filled with salmon that you could walk across it on their backs.

The city of Redding, the Shasta County seat, straddles the Sacramento River, its setting a gift from God, a figure of speech that many who live there take literally. But the devil never being too far away, from May to November nothing cools the valley. In midsummer, no one even starts talking about the heat until the thermometer registers 110 degrees. On the whole the scenery seems more salutary than the weather. Redding is the gateway to a 40,000-square-


mile rock-rimmed wilderness of fast rivers and man-made lakes behind colossal dams, with likely more deer than human residents and surely more trout. Shasta County is 75 percent national forest and parkland. Mount Lassen, which spilled molten lava into the valley below as recently as 1914, rises forty miles to the east. And between Whiskeytown Lake, just to the west of Redding, and the Pacific Ocean, the wild and beautiful Trinity Alps shelter small herds of Hereford cattle and some of the biggest methamphetamine laboratories in the United States.

Trinity County was an ideal setting for illicit drug manufacturing because it was rural, heavily wooded and there was very little local law enforcement. Making the methamphetamine requires little space and equipment and is as simple as baking a cake. Before it was shut down by state drug agents, a fairly typical super lab had been situated on the Trinity-Shasta line on an isolated hilltop overlooking the road with clear sight lines so that anyone approaching could be seen from miles away. The drugs manufactured at the site were shipped to Los Angeles and two other large cities. But not all of the meth cooked in the Trinity Alps was being sent out of the area.

Methamphetamine had long been a big problem in Redding and its environs. A lot of ex-cocaine addicts had switched to meth because it was cheaper, produced a longer, better high, and didn’t eat up your nose. They were blissfully unaware of meth’s more ravaging effects. Former users who subsequently became informants told a California narcotics agent that if an orgasm was a 10, meth was 100. Anyone familiar with the tell-tale signs of methamphetamine addiction—twitchiness, an inability to focus for more than a couple of seconds, ruined gums and teeth, and a ravaged body and face—was likely to spot several users on the street in Redding on any given day. Less visible were the drug’s effects on the cardiovascular system, which can result in sudden death.

Of course, most people who lived in Trinity and the other counties surrounding Redding did not earn their living making and selling methamphetamine. This craggy, densely forested land was also home to a small, socially and politically conservative, churchgoing scattering of folk. Many of them tended to be suspicious of government, especially of the federal variety, but accepting of the traditional authority of preachers and physicians. The area was also an outdoorsman’s paradise. That fact, like the existence of a nearby airport, also played a role in bringing down powerful men to Redding and the institution with which they were closely associated. Sportsmen came from all over to fish the Upper and Lower Sacramento, the Pit, McCloud, and Fall rivers, and Hat Creek.

The people of rural northern California on the whole seemed content with their isolated lives. Even in Redding itself, many residents, with a certain amount of sophisticated irony and pride, called themselves rednecks. There were those among them who still talked longingly—in jest in some cases, but not all—of the State of Jefferson, the name a small group of secessionists gave to the breathtakingly beautiful pine-forested land comprising four counties in northern California and one in southern Oregon in 1941.* Their proclamation of independence specified that the new state would have no sales tax, no income tax, and no liquor tax. Services would be financed through a small royalty on mining and timber development. Although this grand project ended abruptly on December 7 when the Japanese launched a sneak attack on Pearl Harbor and the United States entered World War II, the spirit survived. A man I met in the tiny gold miners’ hamlet of Old Shasta, which straddles Route 299 between Redding and the ghost town of French Gulch, got it just about right when he said he was “happy living where the altitude [3,500 feet measured at the lower end of town] was higher than the population [3,630 in 2003].” And everyone seemed to put up easily with the long, hot summers and the cool, but rainy winters.

Gold was Redding’s first boom and signaled the end of dominion for the Modoc, Wintu, and Yana Indians, tribes that had hunted in the great northern forests for centuries. Not long after it was discovered at Sutter’s Mill on the American River east of Sacramento, Pierson Barton Reading, who operated a ranch on a Mexican land grant in the area, traveled to the mill to have a look. When he returned home, he noticed that, like the foothills around the gold strike, his property was rich in red clay and manzanita, which is still ubiquitous in the area. It wasn’t much of a hint, but it was enough to get Reading into nearby Clear Creek where in three days he sifted $800 worth of gold. He then supplemented his own labor with that of some local Indians who worked for him, went north to the Trinity River, and in six weeks recovered about $80,000 worth of gold. Shortly thereafter a group of Oregonians threatened to kill his Indian workers, and Reading, who was already very well off, decided to get out of the gold business. Soon prospectors were flooding into the area from all over. By 1872, gold had attracted a large enough population for the Central Pacific Railroad to build a branch line up the Sacramento Valley to serve new towns like Maryville, Chico, Tehama, and Red Bluff. But they needed a railhead, which was built thirty-five miles north of Red Bluff along the river and was named for Benjamin Bernard Redding, the general land agent for the railroad and Sacramento’s first mayor.

The gold was about worked out, but the arrival of the railroad and construction of the town were followed by a copper boom that began in the 1890s and ended when the last of five smelters shut down in 1919. The mining and smelting stoked the local economy, but the smelters kept Redding under an almost permanent stinking and poisonous cloud for the better part of twenty-five years. The demise of the copper industry was the beginning of a boom-


and-bust cycle that has continued to this day. Redding sank into a depression a decade before the stock market crash of 1929. The city began to emerge from it only in 1938 when the federal government sent a construction team from the newly completed Hoover Dam to begin building the Shasta Dam, whose floodgates were opened at the end of World War II. To this day many of the children and grandchildren of these construction workers still live in Redding and the surrounding area. For quite a while after the completion of the dam the great expanses of pine forest provided jobs in logging and mill work, but by 1990, largely because of concerns about preserving old-growth forests and protecting the northern spotted owl, several million acres of federal land were closed to logging and the industry withered.

By 2000, Redding had become largely a city of service workers toiling in retail and other low-paying jobs, although building and real estate were beginning to pick up because retirees from Sacramento, the Bay Area, and even from around Los Angeles were beginning to move there. These so-called equity refugees would sell houses where they lived and buy bigger ones in Redding for one-third the price. Physically the city had turned into something approximating a giant mall; a model of the new, cookie-cutter, minimum-wage economy. You could get just about anything you wanted in Redding, although little of anything was made there. Shoppers from Yreka and Dunsmuir, Weaverville and Etna, Red Bluff and Shingletown crowded Best Buy and Circuit City, Sears and Mervyn’s, Costco and Wal-Mart, Bed, Bath & Beyond and the smallest Macy’s in America, inside of which ran Redding’s first and only escalator. The transition began in the 1960s, when a handful of local movers and shakers joined together to roof over three blocks of the old downtown to form a covered mall, a seemingly sensible strategy in a city that swelters in the summer and is raw and rainy in the winter. But before long more modern malls mushroomed across the river along Hilltop Drive and Dana Drive, leaving the downtown desolate and dying, its shops boarded up and its respectable old hotels reduced to SROs. For a long time, with two exceptions, almost the only thriving business left downtown was Jack’s, an institution on California Street that from the outside looked totally derelict, but inside was warm, smoky, crowded, and noisy. Jack’s served big, pan-fried steaks that were so good patrons regularly waited an hour outside in the heat or rain for a table. The other exceptions were the two big, modern hospitals. Redding Medical Center provided 1,200 mostly middle-class jobs to the local economy and about $800,000 a year in tax revenues. Mercy Medical Center provided a similar number of jobs, but because it was a nonprofit, no tax revenue.

Despite its ups and downs Redding, with a population of about 85,000, was the metropolis of the North State. Heading toward Oregon you had to drive more than 120 miles, past Yreka, where Dugan Barr, the city’s best-known personal-injury lawyer grew up, and across the state line to get to the next town with a population over 5,000. In many ways Redding was typical of middle-class rural America, relaxed and friendly, at least on the surface. It was a place where people were generally polite and talked to strangers on the street and in the supermarkets. It was the kind of community in which a retired funeral director like Rudy Balma could get together with a group of friends, form a new bank, and make a go of it. The city’s closely knit upper middle class—doctors, lawyers, bankers, and county, state, and federal officials mostly—met weekly at Rotary luncheons. The desire to participate in Rotary was so high that Redding supported five separate clubs. But a majority of the city’s elite belonged to the biggest, oldest, and most prestigious club, known simply as the Rotary Club of Redding, which met every Thursday at noon over lunch at the Riverview Golf and Country Club on Bechelli Lane.

The meetings were informal but ritualistic affairs. After ten or fifteen minutes of friendly chitchat, members placed their hands over their hearts, pledged allegiance to the flag, and said grace. Then, while sharing jokes and gossip and eating meatloaf and mashed potatoes or the like, members dreamed up civic projects. After lunch there were committee reports and at each meeting a different member was called on to say a few words about what he or she had been up to lately and to pledge an unspecified sum of money—$100 wasn’t unusual—to the general fund. The club also assigned all of its members to service teams with responsibilities for activities such as socials, blood drives, and charitable giving. Reflecting Redding’s continuing love affair with the Old West, during 2002–3 these teams were given names like the Earps, the Jesse James Gang, and the Hole in the Wall Gang. The two teams headed by women were named for Belle Starr and Annie Oakley.

As might have been expected, these same men and a smaller but growing circle of women regularly golfed and dined together at Riverview, the social nexus of well-to-do Redding. The unimposing two-


story frame clubhouse sat on a low bluff on the east bank of the Sacramento River ten minutes from downtown. Its glass-walled upstairs and downstairs dining rooms overlooked a manicured putting green and beyond that a wide stretch of the river and the eighteen-hole golf course, which was built along the east bank and was thick with scrub oaks that were old when the course was built in 1947. The property was still habitat for deer, red and gray fox, badgers, beaver, and an occasional mountain lion. Bald eagles and osprey regularly perched on the withered gray trunk of a dead oak that jutted out from the bank of the river at about a 20-degree angle. The clubhouse had been designed by a local architect named Bill Woodward, who in the 1950s had helped Frank Lloyd Wright build a small church in Redding. Like similar clubs everywhere, it was a place where acquaintances with common social and business interests were afforded an easy opportunity to become friends in a comfortable environment over drinks, dinner, or a round of golf. If and when business was actually transacted there, members tended to be discreet about it.

Riverview was significantly different from many other country clubs in that it had no initiation fee, at least in the traditional sense. To become a proprietary member—one with voting rights—one bought a share in the club, which could be sold at any time at market value. In 2005, a number of shares were available at the relatively modest price of about $3,000. Proprietary members, limited to five hundred, paid monthly dues of $250, which included golf and tennis privileges. There were also less expensive nonproprietary memberships, which did not require any payment up front. Social memberships cost just $60 a month. These included everything except golf and tennis, which meant use of the swimming pool, the dining rooms, and club facilities for weddings and other events. Nonproprietary tennis memberships were also available. The low prices and a generally nondiscriminatory admissions policy made the club accessible to the city’s growing middle class, including the equity refugees. And the process of becoming a member, like much else in Redding, seemed quite informal. If someone wanted to join he presented himself to either the club manager or the golf pro, both of whom were authorized to conduct an initial interview. According to Bill Woodward, a former president of the club, if the applicant were not a habitual criminal or sociopath, the manager or pro would find members to sponsor him. The final admissions decision was made by the board.

A quick perusal of the membership list suggests that most are in business, the professions, or retired. Their names and a couple of visits to the club also suggest a religious and ethnic mix roughly representative of Redding’s business and professional community: overwhelmingly white and Protestant. The club appears to have its fair share of Catholics, Asians (most of whom are physicians), perhaps as many as a dozen Jews, and a Muslim or two. There is at least one black member, James Tate, a Jamaican-born physician who runs a boutique hospital in Redding. Chae Moon, without a doubt the most prominent physician in town, is also a member and a regular on the golf course. So is Riaz Malik, a surgeon at Redding Medical Center.

Of course, all this easygoing fellowship at Rotary and Riverview did not mean that the usual undercurrents did not run in Redding, the same as in any town, big or small. There was gossip, some of it just petty, some of it mean, sexual intrigue involving doctors and nurses and doctors and doctors, occasional dark rumors, some false, some with a grain of truth to them, and occasionally more than a grain, and the usual unspoken animosities. And, like small cities all over America, but especially in the Sun Belt, Redding was going through change, some of it wrenching.

Beginning in the 1990s, growth-related problems had put considerable strain on Redding’s social fabric. By 2000, retirees from the big cities to the south were arriving in increasing numbers. Apart from the relatively low price of houses, these newcomers were attracted by the beautiful scenery, lower living costs, and medical care that was plentiful and generally believed to be unusually good. On the whole, these comfortable retirees seemed certain to be an asset to the community. Nevertheless, some perceptive locals worried that if they kept coming, before long they would drive up real estate prices, making it difficult for young families to buy starter houses. And there were those who worried that they would bring their city values with them, which, they believed, would erode the small-town character of the community. Still others, embarrassed by the redneck image that many of their neighbors embodied and a smaller number cultivated, saw in the recent arrivals potential supporters for their pro-development policies, both economic and cultural, and were more welcoming.

Despite these incipient communal tensions, there was still, among the men and women of Redding, a tangible sense of community not easy to find in bigger cities or, increasingly, in small towns either. Mike Warren, Redding’s city manager since 1995, thought he knew why Redding had been able to preserve these evanescent qualities. He had worked in small towns in Oregon and California and he believed that people were kinder in Redding. They were more tolerant, he said, less political, and they contributed more to their community. “At first,” he said, “I thought that it was something in the water supply [but] what I’ve come to realize is they’re different…because everyone that works here lives here and everyone that lives here works here. As a consequence, you almost have to get along. It’s your community. No one is driving longer than ten or fifteen minutes to work. It is the people’s community. They feel very loyal to it and they feel very loyal to one another.”

There might be something to Warren’s assessment. People in Redding seem unusually civic-minded. In recent years, with substantial community support, the city has added a sports complex that includes three-quarter scale replicas of the baseball fields at Yankee Stadium, Wrigley Field, and Fenway Park, and a world-class aquatic center. The city government, with the help of local citizens, has beautifully restored an old art-deco movie theater and turned it into a performing arts center that draws talent ranging from Ricky Skaggs to the Emerson Quartet.

At the same time, it is undeniable that certain tensions were bubbling to the surface in May of 2000. Perhaps the most concrete expression of the divisions resulting from the changes underway was the controversy over the Sundial Bridge, which spans the Sacramento River, connecting the city’s arboretum to the Turtle Bay Exploration Park and museum. The project was conceived in 1995, the year Warren arrived in Redding. Arguably, nothing better represented the growing disparity of interests between the relatively small professional and managerial class in Redding and the bulk of the population. Redding’s doctors and lawyers, bankers and business owners, the Rotary and Riverview set, saw the bridge as part of a long-term plan to encourage economic growth and to bring cultural and other amenities to their city. What ultimately made the project possible was the McConnell Foundation, established locally on the Farmers Insurance fortune of Carl and Leah McConnell, which was estimated to have assets of half a billion dollars.

The foundation’s approach was ambitious, audacious, and expensive. Its executive vice president, John Mancasola, happened to have seen a book depicting the work of the now-renowned Spanish architect Santiago Calatrava, who subsequently designed the main Olympic stadium in Athens and the transportation center at Ground Zero in New York. Mancasola picked up the phone one morning and called Calatrava at his office in Zurich. The architect answered the phone himself and quickly agreed to design and build the bridge. Had the project been brought in anywhere near its original cost estimate of $2.8 million there probably would have been little controversy over its construction. But the cost ballooned to $23.5 million, with the annual upkeep estimated at $200,000. Many Redding residents thought the money could have been put to much better use, even though in the end the foundation picked up $20.5 million of the cost. But when the bridge was inaugurated on July 4, 2004, almost everyone agreed that it was an engineering and esthetic triumph. Walking across it and stopping for coffee or lunch in the cafe at the Turtle Bay end became a favorite outing for Redding citizens, including many who had opposed its construction.

Meanwhile, as the city struggled with its economic and social transition, the two hospitals continued to thrive, especially Redding Medical Center. At the millennium the hospitals were the two biggest and most influential private enterprises in town. Redding was physically, and to some considerable extent economically, dominated by these modern concrete-and-glass medical facilities, each sited on high ground and easily visible from the hundred-


foot-high red bluffs across the river. Together, they were a source of more than two thousand jobs, almost a million dollars annually in tax income for the city, and a great deal of civic pride, not to mention an unusually broad range of medical services for a city the size of Redding. Just about everyone in northern California, and some in nearby Oregon and Nevada, was proud of the first-rate medical care available at highly profitable RMC and at Mercy, the Catholic nonprofit hospital across town. But most of all they were proud of RMC’s heart program, which, at a word from Dr. Moon, would send its helicopter aloft to ferry in heart patients from the hinterlands.

*Del Norte, Siskiyou, Modoc, and Lassen in California, and Curry in Oregon.
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Old-West Medicine




Medicine in Redding wasn’t always state of the art. When Jim Charles came to town to open a medical practice in the 1940s, doctoring had more in common with Dodge City and Tombstone in the 1840s than with contemporary Los Angeles and San Francisco. Redding was an isolated lumber and railroad town with a population of under 10,000. Even a decade later, around the time that angiography, which revolutionized coronary care, was invented in Cleveland, medical care in Redding was still reminiscent of the Old West.*

The only hospital in town when Charles arrived was St. Caroline’s, built in 1907 at the corner of Pine and Sacramento streets. A man named Thomas Wyatt practiced there. According to Charles, Wyatt, who was short and weighed in at about 200 pounds, would come into the operating room shirtless, with his beer belly hanging out, and grab a surgical gown. Charles said Wyatt used to brag about his speed, but the surgeon’s pace was a problem sometimes because “he had a few bleeders that he couldn’t quite control.” He said typically Wyatt would be playing cards in one of the bars on California Street and he would get a call that a patient needed an appendectomy. He would run over to the hospital, race through the surgery, and return posthaste to the card game. Wyatt also was reputed to have locked the operating room doors and done quite a few abortions at St. Caroline’s, which was a Catholic hospital. It is Charles’s recollection that Wyatt was asked to leave St. Caroline’s because of the abortions, after which he founded Memorial Hospital in 1945. A dozen investors, including Charles, bought it from Wyatt seven years later and in 1972 sold it to National Medical Enterprises, the forerunner to Tenet. It was renamed Redding Medical Center in 1984.

In Charles’s early days in Redding, the general practitioners did everything but thoracic surgery. Charles said that before the first neuro-surgeon arrived “they even cracked a skull every once in a while. If someone came in with a depressed fracture they would open the skull and remove the debris and whatnot. We weren’t afraid to do anything, lots of gall bladders.” Charles eventually had to give up his practice in the late 1990s because he didn’t have malpractice insurance. “I was one of the unusual ones,” he said. “I had faith in my patients.”

After NME bought Memorial, however, some things began to change. In 1977, the same year that Andreas Gruentzig, a charismatic German physician working in Zurich, first did coronary angioplasty, the new owners rebuilt the hospital from the ground up. St. Caroline’s was also modernized and moved to a prime hilltop site overlooking the city and renamed Mercy Hospital. Little Redding was on its way to having two well-equipped, up-to-date medical facilities. Meanwhile, Shasta College’s two-year program was turning out a steady supply of nurses for them, many of whom would never experience medical practice outside of Redding. The two hospitals, together with Redding’s beautiful setting and very livable, inexpensive, small-town environment made it an attractive place for doctors, especially those with young families looking for a safe, homogeneous place to raise their children. It was also appealing to anyone who enjoyed the outdoors, like Harry Daniell, a Harvard-trained primary care doctor who hiked and rode his mountain bike and whose wife couldn’t stand the cold. And it was a place where by and large the churchgoing, socially and politically conservative population was comfortable with the idea that doctors were trustworthy, autonomous professionals whose judgment should rarely if ever be questioned. Very few members of the community gave a thought to concerns like quality and cost controls in healthcare, and, like most of the physicians in town, they were hostile toward managed care. They were happy with things the way they were.

When asked why he thought Redding physicians were so opposed to managed care, Daryl Cardoza, COO of Hill Physicians, an HMO that did business in Redding between 1995 and 2000, but couldn’t survive there, said: “They were against accountability.” The “they” Cardoza was referring to were doctors who wanted to practice medicine without anyone checking to see how well they were doing it. Without managed care, and without effective peer review in the hospitals, which by all accounts was virtually nonexistent, doctors were free to do as they pleased and to charge pretty much what they wanted. “They charged more because they could,” Cardoza said, adding that a lack of competition in Redding, particularly among specialists, enabled physicians to keep managed care out. George Anderson, a vice president of Health Net, which also tried to operate an HMO in Redding, but pulled out in 1999, told the Sacramento Bee that “What you have there is a community where physicians really have left urban areas to escape managed care. You have a fee-for-service payment structure. You end up with a lot of unnecessary procedures and higher-than-


normal utilization of elective surgeries. We had no ability to cover the cost of care.”

And it wasn’t only the doctors who were raking in the big bucks in Redding, the hospitals were, too. Even by Tenet’s exacting standards, RMC was a cash cow. The average revenue per patient day earned by Tenet nationwide in 2001 was $1,661. The average for Redding Medical Center was $3,181, nearly twice as much, with heart procedures setting the pace. Catholic Healthcare West, Mercy’s owner, made $1,310 per patient day that year. Mercy Hospital earned $2,088. From the mid-1990s on, RMC was at or near the top of the charts for the rate of bypass operations done on Medicare patients. In 1996, the city of Redding was number one in the country and RMC was doing twice as many bypasses as Mercy. By 1999, the bypass rate in Redding for Medicare patients was twice as high as in Sacramento, 144 miles to the south on I-5, or Medford, Oregon, 124 miles to the north. Redding by all accounts was still a place where doctors could practice pretty much as they pleased, doctors and hospitals could charge what they wanted, and third-party payers, both public and private, picked up the bills and asked few questions.

The Doctors

The people of Redding and its six surrounding counties seemed happy with the hospitals and the care they provided. They especially admired the two relative newcomers, Chae Hyun Moon and Fidel Realyvasquez. Moon arrived in 1978, left for a practice in Orange County near Los Angeles for about a year, and then returned. Realyvasquez came to Redding at Moon’s invitation, first as part of a rotating team of surgeons from Sacramento in 1987 and then full-time two years later. Just about everyone gave these physicians credit for the RMC heart program’s high ratings and the economic benefits it provided to the community.

While their achievements were renowned in Redding, in some ways what was more interesting, though rarely discussed, was that the two men were held in such high esteem despite the fact that they were geographically and ethnically outsiders. When each arrived, Redding’s population was well over 90 percent white, largely Protestant, and, except for a thin layer of professional cream, working class or lower middle class. That these local inhabitants wholeheartedly embraced a highly aggressive, razor-tongued Korean whose religious affiliation if any was generally unknown and a moody, introspective, Roman Catholic Mexican-American, seems to testify to Moon and Realyvasquez’s accomplishments and to the community’s open-mindedness.

In the decade before Moon came to Redding, major changes had taken place in American medicine that had set the stage for Moon and Realyvasquez’s acceptance by the community. Perhaps the most important of these was the passage of Medicare and Medicaid legislation in 1965, which in its first two decades provided hospitals with a huge cash windfall. By the end of the 1970s, partly as a result of new technologies and procedures and partly because of free-flowing Medicare and Medicaid funds, cardiac medicine had become a major growth industry in the United States. Angiography, which identifies blockages in arteries, had been developed in the late 1950s and bypass surgery in the late 1960s, both at the Cleveland Clinic. The use of angioplasty, in which a balloon on a catheter is inflated to open blocked arteries, had begun in the late 1970s in Switzerland. Tenet’s forerunner, NME, like hospital corporations all over the country, was looking to capitalize on this trio of new, high-revenue-producing procedures.

The company’s hospital in Redding was situated in an area in which few cardiac services were available and therefore it represented a significant business opportunity. NME needed an ambitious, aggressive cardiologist who could build a program quickly. They found their man in Chae Moon. Moon had attended Yonhap Medical School in Seoul, South Korea, where he grew up. He came to the United States in the mid-1970s to do a residency at Metropolitan Hospital in New York, after which he spent two years at the Cleveland Clinic training in cardiovascular medicine. He was recruited by NME and in 1978 set up a cardiology practice in Redding. Although he was not board certified in cardiology, he soon began doing interventional procedures such as angiograms and angioplasty at RMC. He also began actively and generously lobbying primary care doctors in Shasta and neighboring counties to send him their cardiac patients. He would, for example, arrange for NME to buy them treadmills for exercise stress tests that would both enhance their practices and increase the number of cardiac referrals they made. These tests, in which a patient walks on a treadmill, whose speed and elevation are steadily increased while an electrocardiogram tracing is generated, indicate whether the patient’s heart muscle is getting enough oxygen. Treadmills are basic diagnostic tools for primary care physicians and their results frequently determine whether the doctor will recommend that the patient see a cardiologist for further evaluation.

There were only a few cardiologists in town in those days and Moon was a prodigious worker. He was much faster at doing procedures than his colleagues and made himself available at any hour of the night or day, which endeared him to the primary care doctors, whose patients he would sometimes see at the hospital in the middle of the night. Other cardiologists would often try to avoid getting out of bed and going to the hospital by asking the on-duty doctor, “Are you sure it’s an MI [heart attack]?” Some, like Gary Crawford, were offended by Moon’s frequent failure to alert them to the fact that he was about to perform an angiogram on one of their patients, but Crawford, too, was grateful not to be awakened in the middle of the night. When Moon did call, Crawford said, he would typically say, “Your patient had 99.9 percent stenosis,” or blockage. “He loved the nines.”

Moon built his practice rapidly and, for the time, did a high volume of procedures. By the mid-1980s, he was doing a fair number of angioplasties and he arranged for cardiac surgeons, including Realyvasquez, to rotate through Redding to provide backup. In those early days it wasn’t unusual for the procedure to fail and for the patient to be rescued with a coronary bypass. By the time these rotations began Moon was on the verge of creating a full-scale open-heart program at RMC. The hospital had operated a shell program since 1976 with the grandiose name of the California Heart Institute. But now Redding Medical Center was going to build a new four-story tower for it and promote the institute heavily as a nationally ranked cardiac program. This effort turned out to be wildly successful; the California Heart Institute became a financial bonanza for NME and it made Moon, and to a lesser extent Realyvasquez, a living legend in Redding.

Moon was soon putting up numbers in the cath lab that in their own worlds Michael Jordan and Barry Bonds could hardly dream of. He was doing four and five times as many catheterizations as his peers elsewhere, even at major academic medical centers. This, of course, was good for Realyvasquez’s business, too. In Moon’s world, the world of RMC, and also Mercy Hospital where he maintained a small practice, there were a few skeptics among the physicians, but almost everyone else chalked up their skepticism to envy. On the whole Moon was revered as much by the doctors and nurses as he was by the public and was treated with deference and respect, as was Realyvasquez. Bill Browning, a perceptive retired army colonel who was the chief pharmacist at RMC for six years, observed that both Moon and Realyvasquez reveled in this treatment and speculated that it was “because they weren’t from white American backgrounds.” Although both men earned much more than any other Redding doctor, Browning believed the adulation was more important to them than the money.

For the most part, though, the reverence in which Moon was held was strictly professional. Even those who liked him could not help but notice that he was egotistical, short-tempered, and insulting to patients, nurses, and even other doctors. And he was not at all averse to throwing his weight around. At the same time he could be generous. He supported training programs for nurses with his own funds and bought rain jackets for the men who worked on the hospital grounds. He was a gregarious, assertive, self-promoting bundle of energy who, despite his ungrammatical and inarticulate English, would speak in public at the drop of a hat. He never hesitated to tell anyone who would listen that he was one of the ten best cardiologists in the country, and that he was way ahead of the technological curve in his practice. Moon behaved as if other cardiologists in town, like Bob Pick and Roy Ditchey at Mercy Hospital, were medical bumpkins even though both were board-certified interventional cardiologists and Ditchey had spent about fifteen years in academic medicine at the universities of Vermont and Colorado.

To get a better sense of Chae Hyun Moon, it helps to hear his voice. Thanks to a tape recording made at a “meet-the-doctor” session with Moon in 1996, it is possible to do so. Here is an excerpt from his colorful, freewheeling, foulmouthed, syntactically challenged discourse, which awkwardly entangles his thoughts on how his father practiced medicine in Korea and his own gifts as a physician with a spirited defense of his locally renowned failure to keep records.
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